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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	ED WITBECK, 

                                            Employee, 

                                               Applicant,

                                             v. 

SUPERSTRUCTURES, INC.,

                                           Employer,

And

ALASKA NATIONAL INSURANCE CO.,

                                            Insurer

                                                Defendants.
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	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

ON REMAND 

AWCB Case No.  200119123

AWCB Decision No.  07-0352

Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on November 21, 2007


On September 19, 2007, in Anchorage, Alaska, the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (“Board”) heard the employee’s claim for permanent total disability (“PTD”) benefits on remand from the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission.  The employee did not appear for the hearing.  The Board proceeded in his absence after having determined the employee had properly been served with Notice of Hearing.
  Attorney Richard Wagg represented the employer and insurer (“employer”).  Considering the employee’s failure to appear for the properly noticed hearing, and the Board’s concern to preserve the employee’s due process, the record was held open to permit the employee to submit a post hearing brief.  The Board provided the employee notice of his opportunity to file arguments in support of his claim for PTD benefits on September 21, 2007.  We requested that the employee direct the Board to that medical and rehabilitation evidence in the record indicated the employee is unable to engage in gainful employment on a regular and continuous basis, or that the employee was unable to be retrained due to his physical limitations.  We directed the employee to file his post hearing brief no later than October 12, 2007.
  

In response to the Board’s letter, Mr. Witbeck left a message on Designated Chair Janel Wright’s voice mail expressing his belief that he was not permitted to discuss his case, nor file additional briefing with the Board until the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission (“AWCAC”) made a determination regarding his current appeal.  The employee specifically stated he would not be filing anything with the Board.
  In further correspondence of September 25, 2007, the Board reminded Mr. Witbeck that the AWCAC ordered the Board to notify Mr. Witbeck of the proper procedure to pursue his claim for PTD benefits; that the September 19, 2007 proceeding was for the sole purpose of hearing the employee’s claim for PTD benefits, as that is an issue that had not previously been addressed by the Board, nor was it an issue before the AWCAC.  The Board further explained to Mr. Witbeck that the Board was not precluded from hearing the issue and that Mr. Witbeck and the employer were not prevented from filing briefs with the Board.  We again requested that Mr. Witbeck direct the Board to that medical and rehabilitation evidence in the record that indicated he is unable to engage in gainful employment on a regular and continuous basis or that he is unable to be retrained due to physical limitations.

In order to fully protect the parties’ rights to due process, the Board extended the filing dates for the employee’s post hearing brief and the employer’s reply brief.  Additionally, we directed Mr. Witbeck to contact a workers’ compensation technician or request a pre-hearing conference if the Board’s assurances did not relieve his concerns and hesitancy to file a post hearing brief.  We again confirmed that Mr. Witbeck’s claim for PTD benefits was before the Board based upon remand from the AWCAC.

The employee did not file a post hearing brief, nor did he direct the Board to any medical or rehabilitation evidence in support of his claim for PTD benefits.  The Board closed the record when we next met, on October 30, 2007.

ISSUE

Is the employee entitled to PTD benefits under AS 23.30.180?


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

We hereby adopt and incorporate the summary of evidence in our four prior decisions in the employee’s case, to include, Ed Witbeck v. Superstructures, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 03-0173 (July 24, 2003); Ed Witbeck v. Superstructures, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 03-0202 (November 4, 2003); Ed Witbeck v. Superstructures, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 05-0348 (December 28, 2005); and Ed Witbeck v. Superstructures, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 07-0038 (March 1, 2007). 

I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY
The employee appealed the Board’s December 28, 2005 Decision and Order,
 in which the Board denied the employee’s claim for a compensation rate adjustment and upheld the Reemployment Benefits Administrator’s decision that the employee was not cooperative with the reemployment process and terminated the employee’s reemployment benefits.  The AWCAC affirmed the Board on these determinations.
  The AWCAC did not find substantial evidence to support the Board’s finding that the employee’s consultation with Richard Jackson 
Bransford, M.D., was not reasonable and necessary medical care, vacated the Board’s decision and remanded the employee’s claim for medical benefits to the Board for further proceedings on the sole issue of the medical care provided by Dr. Bransford.
  The Board heard this issue on remand and issued AWCB Decision No. 07-0038, on March 1, 2007. 

The employee did not challenge the AWCAC’s remand to the Board.  He did, however, request that the AWCAC reconsider the two issues decided against him by the Board and affirmed by the AWCAC.  The AWCAC denied reconsideration of its affirmation of the Board’s denial of a compensation rate adjustment and affirmation of the Board’s finding that the employee was 
noncooperative with the reemployment process.
  However, upon reconsideration, the AWCAC found there was insufficient record that the employee was fully advised and instructed how to pursue his claim for PTD benefits.  The AWCAC found that the Board Designee’s authority to identify and simplify the issues does not extend to dismissing disputed claims without the knowledge of the parties.  As the Board had not considered or decided the employee’s claim for PTD benefits at the November 14, 2005 hearing, the AWCAC was concerned that the employee may not have been informed of how to bring his claim for PTD benefits to hearing.  The AWCAC noted the employee’s assertion that a vocational rehabilitation provider told him that he could not be rehabilitated due to his work-related disability and illiteracy.  The AWCAC directed the Board, on remand, to instruct the employee regarding the status of his claim and how to pursue his remaining claim for PTD benefits.

A pre-hearing conference was held on December 14, 2006, for the specific purpose of advising the employee of his rights and the procedure to pursue PTD benefits.  During this pre-hearing conference, the employee was advised of his rights to and pursuit of his claim for PTD benefits.  The employee’s claim for PTD benefits was set for further hearing on April 18, 2007.

On March 1, 2007, the Board issued a decision and order on remand,
 addressing, among other issues on remand, whether the employee had been properly advised of his rights to PTD and other benefits under the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act (“Act”).  The Board found that at a prehearing conference on December 14, 2006, discussions ensued regarding the employee’s potential rights to benefits, including TTD, TPD, PTD, PPI, medical costs, transportation costs, review of the employee’s eligibility for reemployment benefits and the employee’s compensation rate.  Based upon the content of the prehearing conference summary, the Board was unable to ascertain specifically what the employee was advised with regard to his right to pursue a PTD claim under the Act.  Therefore, the Board remanded the matter for a further prehearing conference and directed that a prehearing conference summary be issued which clearly sets out the specific advice provided the employee.

A prehearing conference was held on April 18, 2007 pursuant to the Board’s March 1, 2007 order.  The employee did not attend the prehearing conference.  Prior to the prehearing conference, the Board Designee spoke with the employee.  

Mr. Witbeck called on April 9, 2007.  Chair spoke with Mr. Witbeck and explained to him that the PH was by order of the Board’s 3/1/07 Order that he should be informed of his rights and how to precede [sic] with his PTD claim.  Mr. Witbeck stated he appealed the Board’s decision.  Chair explained to Mr. Witbeck that only part of the Board’s 3/1/07 decision was on appeal.  Chair explained the board ordered this PH and the PH was going to continue per the Board’s order.  Chair explained to Mr. Witbeck that he needed to attend the PH as scheduled.

Mr. Witbeck then contacted Mr. Donley on April 9, 2007.  Mr. Donley stated that Mr. Witbeck claimed the PH was illegal since he had appealed the Board’s Decision and he would not attend.

Despite Mr. Witbeck’s failure to attend the prehearing conference, the Board Designee continued and advised Mr. Witbeck of his rights as follows:

Mr. Witbeck has the right to proceed with his claim for PTD.  Mr. Witbeck should have the following documentation before proceeding with his claim.

Mr. Witbeck should have medical evidence from a physician stating his work limitations and stating he is unable to perform gainful employment on a regular and continuous basis.  Mr. Witbeck may also have, but it is not necessary to have, a document from a rehabilitation counselor stating due to his physical limitation he is unable to be retrained.

The employer felt that to proceed with the hearing originally set for May 3, 2007, would not provide the employee with sufficient time to prepare his case and obtain the necessary documentation and evidence necessary to support his claim.  The May 3, 2007 hearing was cancelled and a hearing on the employee’s claim for PTD benefits was rescheduled for September 19, 2007.

II.
RELEVANT MEDICAL EVIDENCE

The employee was an ironworker for the employer.  On September 28, 2001, when lifting iron roof rafters, the rafters fell injuring the employee’s right foot and left hand.
  On October 1, 2001, the employee treated with Lavern Davidhizer, D.O., for his foot injury.  At that time, he reported that when the truss fell on his foot, he bent over to remove it and although he did not feel pain at that time, he noticed back pain the next day that worsened the following day.
  
Dr. Davidhizer diagnosed lumbar disc syndrome and sprained ankle.
  The employee was 40 years old at the time of the injury.

On November 24, 2001, Dr. Davidhizer reported to the insurer regarding the employee’s back condition and predicted the employee would not be able to work until the end of the year.

On December 20, 2001, Dr. Davidhizer diagnosed lumbar disc syndrome, persisting.  He recommended continuation of myofascial release.
  The employee continued to treat with 
Dr. Davidhizer in 2002.  As of January 12, 2002, the employee still had pain in his left lateral foot but the pain in his legs and the sacral area had improved.  Dr. Davidhizer opined the lumbar disc syndrome was improving and he indicated the employee had a sacral sprain/strain.
  On January 21, 2002, Dr. Davidhizer reported the employee had not been able to work since the injury but it was anticipated the employee would be able to return to light duty work in four to six weeks.

On January 25, 2002, at the employer’s request, the employee was seen for an employer’s medical evaluation (EME)
 by Clifton Baker, M.D., an orthopedic surgeon.  He found that the employee had no problems with his left hand or his right foot.  The employee complained of severe hurting discomfort across his lower back, aggravated by bending or sitting.  Dr. Baker’s impression was acute protruded left lumbosacral intervertebral disk, which he indicated was the result of the September 28, 2001 injury.  Dr. Baker recommended a MRI and possible lumbosacral hemilaminectomy and disk removal if the diagnosis was confirmed by the MRI.  
Dr. Baker felt the employee could return to work after surgery, but that he had not reached medical stability.
  

In response to an inquiry from the carrier on February 7, 2002, Dr. Davidhizer indicated he did not agree with Dr. Baker’s assessment.  Dr. Davidhizer opined the employee was doing much better and if a MRI showed a herniated disc at L5-S1, Dr. Davidhizer recommended lumbar decompression because it had an 80 percent cure rate.

On April 10, 2002, the employee underwent an MRI
 of the lumbar spine.
  The impressions were very mild neural foraminal narrowing bilaterally L3-4, L4-5 and L5-S1; 3.00 MM central, 3.0 MM right and left paracentral interforaminal disc protrusion L5-S1; 2.0 MM central, 3.0 MM right and left paracentral, 3.0 MM right and left interformaminal disc protrusion L4-5; 2.0 MM central right and left paracentral, 3.0 MM right and left interforminal disc protrusion L3; moderate loss of height and mild to moderate decrease in signal secondary to dessication changes L4-5 and L50S1 with mild loss of height and signal of the L3-4 disc; and 6.0 MM anterior disc protrusion L 3-4.  Dr. Davidhizer’s interpretation of the MRI noted some minor disc protrusions which he indicated should not give the employee much difficulty.  Dr. Davidhizer diagnosed mild disc protrusion at L3-4.  He recommended continued heat and stretching.

The employee wanted to make certain that he did not require back surgery, therefore, on April 19, 2002, Dr. Davidhizer referred the employee to J. Paul Dittrich.  Dr. Davidhizer continued to opine the employee had a lumbar strain, which was resolving.
  The employee was seen by 
J. Paul Dittrich, M.D., on May 1, 2002.  He diagnosed degenerative lumbar disc disease with some disc bulging at several levels but no evidence of central or foraminal stenosis or nerve root compression.  Dr. Dittrich indicated that physical therapy would provide the employee the best chance for improvement.  A referral for physical therapy was made.
  

Physical therapy was difficult.  On May 10, 2002, the employee treated with Susan Minogue, LPT, for physical therapy.
  She reported the employee “wanted to make his own calls on what should be done;” that he refused to lie in recommended positions and would position himself; and that he would only do exercises he felt were right.  As Ms. Minogue put it, “Whatever I advise, he counters.”  At times the employee declined exercise altogether.

On June 7, 2002, Dr. Davidhiuzer’s diagnosis continued to be mild lumbar disc syndrome.  The employee reported he did not think physical therapy was helping him and, as far as his low back pain was concerned, not much had changed.  At the employee’s request, Dr. Davidhizer referred the employee to Davis Peterson, M.D., for an additional opinion regarding the employee’s ability to return to work.
  Dr. Davidhizer held firm that any type of surgery for the employee’s back condition was not reasonable or necessary based upon the MRI, which did not show symptoms severe enough to indicate surgery.  Further, Dr. Davidhizer indicated that if the employee had surgery, it may exacerbate his symptoms.
 

At the employer’s request, the employee was evaluated by Shawn Johnston, M.D., on 
August 30, 2002.  Dr. Johnston concluded that the employee’s work injury was a substantial factor in his need for treatment for lower back pain and left lumbosacral radiculopathy.  
Dr. Johnston anticipated the employee would have a permanent impairment, but was doubtful surgical treatment was reasonable or necessary.  Dr. Johnston deferred making judgments about the employee’s work capabilities until after electrodiagnostic testing was conducted and more information was determined about the employee’s condition.

On September 3, 2002, the employee was seen by Dr. Peterson, an orthopedic surgeon, upon referral from Dr. Davidhizer.  Dr. Peterson diagnosed chronic back pain 11 months post lifting injury with left leg radiation suspicious for radiculitis, but no overt radiculopathy or tension signs and three level lumbar degenerative changes pre-existing with no acute associated lesions or herniated nucleus pulposus.  He did not consider the employee a reasonable candidate for surgery.  Dr. Peterson indicated the employee would need ongoing back rehabilitation and vocational rehabilitation.

Upon referral, the employee was also seen by Edward M. Voke, M.D., orthopedic specialist, on September 23, 2002.  Dr. Voke indicated an x-ray taken of the employee’s back showed bilateral spondylolysis at L5.  The diagnosis was degenerative disc disease, lumbar spine and bilateral L5 spondylolysis.  Dr. Voke agreed with Dr. Peterson that surgery was not indicated.  He recommended treatment for chronic pain in a rehabilitation setting.  He recommended a physical capacities evaluation after treatment.  Dr. Voke opined the employee needed to be under the care of a specialist in physical medicine.

On February 13, 2003, the employee followed up with Dr. Peterson, who noted that an epidural injection gave the employee temporary relief; but the employee reported subsequent buttock and thigh pain and episodic back pain.  Dr. Peterson’s assessment was multilevel lumbar degenerative changes with lumbosacral strain superimposed, chronic intermittent low back, buttock and posterior thigh pain, but no overt radiculopathy or myelopathy.  Dr. Peterson opined the employee was medically stable and ratable.  Based on MRI changes and the employee’s ongoing complaints, Dr. Peterson rated the employee with a five percent PPI.  Dr. Peterson noted the employee does not have an extruded nucleus pulposus.  He indicated the employee required retraining for lighter duty work to avoid repetitive injury and time loss from work due to awkward lifting, twisting, bending and stooping.
  

As of February 14, 2003, the employee had continued complaints of back pain, although he felt his foot had gotten better.  Dr. Davidhizer noted several orthopedic surgeons who had evaluated the employee all concluded the employee is not a surgical candidate.  The employee expressed concern about his lack of educational background and his inability to do heavy work anymore.

Through May 20, 2003, the employee treated with Dr. Davidhizer, who consistently recommended myofascial release, heat, stretching, exercises and activity.

On May 29, 2003, Dr. Peterson ordered an additional MRI, as well as electromylogram nerve conduction velocities of the employee’s lower extremities.  Dr. Peterson continued to opine the employee was not a good surgical candidate based on the spectrum of his symptoms and the multilevel nature of his lumbar disease.
  

A June 11, 2003 MRI of the employee’s lumbar spine revealed moderate broad based disc bulges at L3-4 and L4-5 which, coupled with facet joint hypertrophy and legamentum flavum hypertrophy, caused mild to moderate neural foraminal narrowing; moderate disc protrusion complex at L5-S1 with posterior central component 2.8 MM, left paracentral 3.3 MM, left intraforaminal 3.7 MM, right paracentral 3.7 MM, and right intraforaminal 3.3MM.  This, coupled with facet joint degenerative changes, caused moderate narrowing of the bilateral neural foramina.  In addition, minimal disc bulge at L2-3 causing minimal neural foraminal narrowing was shown.  On comparison to the prior report including measured disc protrusion values, the appearance and process of degenerative change and disc protrusion appeared more prominent.

For purposes of an electromyelogram, the employee was seen by Michael James, M.D., on July 24, 2003.  Dr. James reported that the employee is an angry man; that he was confrontational and abusive toward Dr. James’ staff; and that he refused to proceed with the electrodiagnostic studies.  Dr. James diagnosed low back pain with no objective evidence of radiculopathy.  Further, he found mild sensory deficits, and multilevel degenerative disc disease by history.

In follow-up, Dr. Peterson saw the employee on August 5, 2003.  The employee felt his back condition had left him permanently disabled and his PPI rating did not reflect the severity of his condition.  Dr. Peterson’s assessment was multi-level degenerative change with chronic low back pain and disability.  Dr. Peterson noted the employee was very insistent on having a low back fusion, which the employee believed would prevent long-term deformity and lessen his degree of disability.  Dr. Peterson advised the employee that multi-level fusion would not likely improve his level of function or pain level.
  Dr. Peterson suggested the employee seek another opinion,
 and advised the employee by letter dated October 11, 2003, that neither he nor members of his clinic would be available to treat the employee in the future.

On April 6, 2004, x-rays of the employee’s spine were done at the University of Washington.  They showed mild lumbar dextroscoliosis.  They also showed mild disc height loss at L5-S1  and osteophyte formation of vertebral bodies suggesting degenerative disc disease.

Upon referral by Dr. Peterson, the employee was seen for an orthopedic spinal consultation by Todd Stephen Jarosz, M.D., Assistant Professor of Spine Surgery and Sports Medicine, Department of Ortho Surgery, University of Washington Medical Center, on April 6, 2004.  Dr. Jarosz recommended the employee undergo EMG nerve conduction studies and monitoring of his lower extremities to include his lumbar paraspinals, to demonstrate electrodiagnostic evidence of lumbar radiculopathy.  He recommended a MRI scan of the employee’s lumbar spine.  Dr. Jarosz contemplated possibly performing a CT myelogram prior to any surgical intervention and possibly an MMPI evaluation with Michael Boldwood, M.D., at the University of Washington Medical Center Pain Management Clinic.
 

On June 29, 2005, the employee underwent spinal x-rays which showed normal spinal alignment.
  Dheera Ananthakrishnan, M.D., prepared a bone and joint report, in which she indicated the x-rays showed no evidence of major scoliosis and no fractures or dislocations.  She noted the employee had arthritis in his back and decreased disc heights at L4-5 and L5-S1 levels.  She diagnosed degenerative disc disease.
  She stated, “At this point in time, we do not recommend surgery for Mr. Witbeck as we do not feel that he has one specific area of pathology that would benefit from surgery.”  She agreed with Dr. Jarosz’s suggestion that the employee undergo a “McGill-Melzack Pain Index or “MMPI.” with Dr. Boldwood to assess the employee’s chance of success with surgery in the future. Additionally, she recommended an electromyelogram to assess for acute or chronic radiculopathy.  As the employee wanted a second opinion, he was referred to Dr. Bransford.

A CT L-spine MRI was conducted on October 5, 2005, which revealed no evidence of acute osseous injury; spondylolisthesis at the L5 level; degenerative disk disease at the L4-5 and L5-S1 levels with narrowing of disk heights and with a small vacuum phenomena in the L5-S1 disk; posterior disk bulging at the L3-4, L4-5 and L5-S1 levels along with minor posterior disk bulging at the L2-3 level. However, there was no definite disk herniation identified.  There was bilateral narrowing of the neural canals at the L3-4, L4-5, and L5-S1 levels secondary to the disk bulging along with osseous degenerative change, however, the nerve roots at each of these levels exited within the superior aspect of the neural canals with no impingement identified.  No significant change was identified when compared with the study done on August 10, 2003.
 

Dr. Bransford evaluated the employee on referral from Dr. Ananthakrishnan.  Dr. Bransford noted the employee complained of a problem with his tailbone, which the employee believed would require a plastic tailbone or bone graft from his hip.  The employee stated he wanted surgery.
 As the evaluation progressed, Dr. Bransford reported the employee because increasingly belligerent and refused to be examined.
  Dr. Bransford reported that the employee perseverated on what other providers had told him and was convinced he needed surgery, despite Dr. Bransford’s explanation to the employee regarding what the films actually showed.  Dr. Bransford agreed that the employee has disc degeneration within his lumbar spine; however, because there was no obvious evidence of central or foraminal stenosis, Dr. Bransford reported to the employee that the literature does not support that his condition does well with fusions.  Dr. Bransford found the employee’s expectations unrealistic and that the employee had a great deal of pent up anger.  Dr. Bransford concluded he had nothing to offer the employee from a surgical standpoint, but was willing to see the employee on an as-needed basis.

III. 
HISTORY OF THE REEMPLOYMENT PROCESS

On April 5, 2002, the insurer requested that the employee be referred for an eligibility evaluation because the employee had been advised he could not return to his job at the time of injury.
  Subsequently, the employee was notified that rehabilitation specialist John Micks had been assigned to perform a vocational evaluation.

Mr. Micks requested that Dr. Dittrich review various job descriptions and provide an opinion regarding the employee’s ability to perform the jobs described.
  However, Dr. Dittrich informed Mr. Micks he would not review the job descriptions and, due to the employee’s behavior, would not see the employee again.
  

Ultimately, at Mr. Micks’ request, Dr. Davidhizer reviewed the job descriptions representing the employee’s 10-year work history.  Dr. Davidhizer opined the employee was unable to perform any of the positions he performed in the 10 years prior to his work injury.
  Dr. Davidhizer opined that the employee could not return to the structural steel worker job he held at the time of injury.  Dr. Davidhizer also opined the employee would have a permanent impairment.
  Based upon the opinions of Dr. Davidhizer and the employer’s confirmation that it was unable to place the employee in a lighter duty job, on August 8, 2002, Mr. Micks recommended the employee be found eligible for reemployment benefits.
  On August 28, 2002, the RBA found the employee eligible for reemployment benefits.
  

On February 18, 2003, the insurer advised the employee that his benefits would be terminated if he did not select a rehabilitation counselor by March 7, 2003.
  On February 28, 2003, the employee requested a hearing because he could not read or write, was in pain, was requesting legal counsel and that he was not able to attend classes at that time.

The employee finally submitted a reemployment benefits selection form on April 1, 2003, designating Jon Deisher as his rehabilitation specialist.
  On April 3, 2003, the insurer forwarded a refusal of rehabilitation specialist, refusing Jon Deisher, to the Board.
  The parties were advised on April 15, 2003, that rehabilitation specialist Robert Sullivan had been selected to develop and write a reemployment plan.
  On April 22, 2003, the employee refused the rehabilitation specialist.

Consequently, on April 23, 2003, the employer and employee were advised that another rehabilitation specialist, Alizon White, had been assigned to develop and write a reemployment plan.
  On April 30, 2003, the employee filed a refusal of rehabilitation specialist regarding Alizon White,
 and advised the Board and the insurer that he selected Leonard Mundorf as his rehabilitation specialist.  Additionally, he requested that his PPI benefits for the period of 
March 9 through 22, 2003 be reinstated.

On June 2, 2003, Alizon White wrote to the employee asking him to sign releases and to contact her to set up an initial interview.
  She notified the RBA of her efforts to work with the employee; that the employee refused to sign releases; and that the employee indicated he did not wish to work with Ms. White.  Ms. White concluded the employee had been uncooperative with the rehabilitation process.  As a result, on June 20, 2003, the RBA informed the employee and the employer that Ms. White was to serve as the rehabilitation specialist for purposes of reemployment plan development.

The employee provided a release for employment records; however, it was necessary for Ms. White to request that the employee sign a medical release.  She made the first request on 
July 2, 2003, and the second on July 16, 2003.
  

On August 6, 2003, the employee’s benefits, except medical benefits, were controverted by the employer due to the employee’s failure to cooperate with reemployment efforts as required under AS 23.30.041(n)(1)(A), (D) and (E).
  The employee objected in writing to the controversion based on his claim he was in Ms. White’s office on August 5, 2003 and willing to seek testing for reading and writing.

On August 19, 2003, Ms. White requested that the RBA reassign the employee’s case in view of his failure to return a signed medical release.
  Ms. White also wrote a closure report on the same date.
  She described the problems she encountered attempting to develop a plan with the employee.
  At one point, he told her that he was not going to school for her organization or for anyone else.  His interactions included uttering a string of profanities at her and then hanging up the phone.  Ms. White reported that the employee asserted that “…his goal was just to get by and receive Workers’ Compensation benefits for life and that no company would hire him.”
  On August 5, 2003, the employee visited Ms. White’s office and behaved in a threatening and unacceptable manner, requiring a report to law enforcement authorities. After this meeting, 
Ms. White and Northern Rehabilitation Services, closed the case.

Instead of terminating the employee’s reemployment benefits at that point for his failure to cooperate, on October 23, 2003, the RBA advised the employee that a new rehabilitation specialist, Jeffrey Allen, had been assigned to his case.
  On November 5, 2003, Jeff Allen, of Alaska Vocational Consulting, reported to the insurer his impressions of the employee.
  
Mr. Allen described the employee’s “extreme anger” and his threats toward personnel associated with the insurer and the RBA.  As Mr. Allen put it, “We need to be on the lookout here, and thoughtful about our safety when action is taken in this case.”
  Mr. Allen recommended that the employee undergo a mental health evaluation at the earliest possible date, and opined that such an evaluation would lead to long-term care.  Mr. Allen found it clear that the employee was unwilling to participate in the reemployment process, and that perhaps he was unable to do so because of failing mental health.

Mr. Allen set up a vocational testing appointment for the employee to be conducted on November 25, 2003.
  The meeting included Judy Weglinski, a vocational specialist, to assist in vocational evaluation. The employee testing did not occur as planned and the employee contacted Mr. Allen and threatened him.  Mr. Allen advised the RBA that the employee was unable to participate in the vocational rehabilitation process because of severe mental illness.  As Mr. Allen put it, “I honestly sense that Mr. Witbeck could be a danger to anyone.”  Mr. Allen concluded: 


Any person with the stomach to continue on with this case is welcome to the advantage of my experience and advice at no further cost, but my name may now be added to the long list of professionals that don’t ever want to hear from Mr. Witbeck again.”

On March 17, 2004, the RBA informed the employee that development of a reemployment plan through the efforts of rehabilitation specialists White and Allen was not possible.  Upon the employee’s request for assignment of a new rehabilitation specialist, the RBA advised the employee he could request a conference to attempt to address the situation.

The RBA notified the employee that an informal conference was scheduled for April 9, 2004.  The RBA noted:

Throughout the course of our conversation you threatened me, and included the carrier’s representative, Angela Rudd and Rick Wagg, attorney for the employer.  If I remember correctly, you said you would probably get nothing out of this case but would like to see me, Ms. Rudd and Mr. Wagg in the dumpster at the end of your driveway.

As a result of the conference, the employee was to be seen by Paul Turner, Ph D., for an assessment of the employee’s reading and writing skills.
  Based upon the employee’s refusal to cooperate with the assessment, Mr. Allen informed the RBA,
 and the evaluation set for May 6, 2004 was cancelled.

On May 10, 2004, the employee’s benefits, except medical benefits, were controverted based upon his failure to cooperate with reemployment efforts.
  Another informal conference regarding the employee’s reemployment plan was scheduled by the RBA for September 9, 2004.
  

An intake interview for the employee was scheduled with Adult Basic Education at Kenai Peninsula College on September 23, 2004.
  However, Mr. Allen advised the RBA that the employee refused to meet with personnel at the Adult Basic Education program at Kenai Peninsula College because “they’re all shrinks and I’m not going to have anything to do with them.” Mr. Allen noted that this was the third time the employee had failed to meet basic vocational testing requirements.

The RBA again reassigned the employee’s case to another reemployment benefits specialist, Liz Dowler, on October 12, 2004.
   By December 1, 2004, Ms. Dowler provided the RBA with her plan closing report.  Based upon the employee’s failure to attend scheduled meetings with 
Ms. Dowler, and his failure to make further contact with Ms. Dowler’s office after November 19, 2004, Ms. Dowler concluded the employee was not willing to be compliant with the vocational rehabilitation process and that a plan could not be developed unless he was willing to meet with a counselor on a regular basis.  Ms. Dowler recommended that no further time or money be wasted on reassignment.

On June 3, 2005, the employee filed another claim for workers’ compensation benefits.
  He sought TTD, TPD, PPI, PTD, medical costs, medical transportation costs and reemployment benefits.  Based upon the employee’s failure to cooperate with the reemployment process, the employer controverted all but medical benefits on June 28, 2005.
  Additionally, on 
July 22, 2005, the employer filed a petition pursuant to AS 23.30 041(n)(1)(A), (D) and (E) to terminate the employee’s right to reemployment benefits due to his noncooperation.

A formal rehabilitation conference was held on October 4, 2005.  The RBA issued his memorandum of decision finding the employee had been uncooperative with the reemployment benefits process beginning August 6, 2003.
  The RBA noted that the employee interrupted the testimony of other parties over 100 times during the course of the conference.  The employee testified that he should have his back fixed first before any rehabilitation efforts proceed and that he had been told by John Micks, another rehabilitation specialist, that he could not be rehabilitated.  The employer indicated it was and continued to be willing to provide rehabilitation services to the employee.  Based upon the entire record in this matter, the employee was found to be noncooperative in the reemployment benefits process from August 6, 2003 forward, pursuant to AS 23.30.041(1)(n)(A), (D) and (E).
  

In the Board’s December 28, 2006 Decision and Order, it found based on the evidence in the record, including the October 4, 2005 Memorandum of Decision of the RBA, as well as the reports of Ms. Dowler, Mr. White and Mr. Allen, that the employee failed to cooperate with preparation of a reemployment plan.  The Board found his failure to do so was repeated and unreasonable.  In addition to finding the employee failed to cooperate in the reemployment benefits program, it was found the employee threatened personnel administering the program.  The Board found substantial evidence supported the RBA’s October 4, 2005 Memorandum of Decision, which found the employee was uncooperative in the reemployment benefits program from August 6, 2003 forward and that the RBA did not abuse his discretion in arriving at that determination.  The Board did not find the employee credible when he offered various excuses for nonparticipation,
  which included, the employee could not have dealings with people who could assess his reading or writing skills, and that he could have no contact with psychologists.  Under these circumstances, the Board found the employee’s right to reemployment benefits under AS 23.30.041(n) was terminated and the decision of the RBA was affirmed.
  The Board’s decision and order on this issue was affirmed by the AWCAC.

IV.
THE EMPLOYEE’S CLAIM FOR PTD BENEFITS
The employee claims entitlement to PTD benefits.  The employee has filed no additional records with the Board pursuant to directives of the Board’s Designee in the April 18, 2007 prehearing conference summary or the Board’s correspondence of September 21, 2007 and September 25, 2007.  The employee claim appears to be based upon the employee’s assertion that he cannot successfully be retrained because he cannot read or write.  The employee argues that because he is not educated and that he cannot read well, computer training will be useless to him.  He contends he is, therefore, entitled to PTD benefits.

The employer argues that there is no medical evidence to support the employee’s claim for PTD benefits.  The employer maintains there exists nothing in the entire record of this case documenting the employee has an inability to retrain or work.  In fact, the employer asserts, the 

consistent medical evidence in the record directs that the employee retrain for lighter duty work.  The employer refers us to the January 21, 2002 and September 25, 2002 medical reports of 
Dr. Davidhizer; and the September 3, 2002 and February 13, 2003 reports of Dr. Peterson.  

At the September 19, 2007 hearing, Loretta Cortis, a vocational rehabilitation counselor testified.  Ms. Cortis received her Bachelor degree in psychology in 1976 and has served as a rehabilitation counselor for 12 years.  She testified she is familiar with the Act and the reemployment benefits requirements, as she is a qualified rehabilitation counselor on the Boards’ list.

Ms. Cortis testified that she has served as a rehabilitation counselor for employees with injuries such as the employees.  She testified she has experience with individuals with injuries such as the employee’s and PPI ratings even greater than the employee’s five percent.  She testified that she has been successful in getting those individuals back to work within the parameters of the Act.  She testified that many of the individuals whom she has assisted in retraining had little to no education; and many who could not read were placed in remedial coursework and then trained to return to work successfully.  

Based upon Ms. Cortis’ review of the employee’s medical record and vocational rehabilitation records, Ms. Cortis opined that the employee is able to return to regularly and continuously available work.  In arriving at her opinion, Ms. Cortis testified that based upon review of the employee’s medical records, she was aware the employee is capable of performing sedentary to light work; however, she recommends light work, as this will enable the employee to move frequently, which is necessary because sitting for extended periods of time increases the employee’s back pain.
  

Ms. Cortis testified that in forming her opinion regarding the employee’s ability to return to work, she reviewed the employee’s past work history, aptitudes and abilities to determine if his intellectual abilities would affect his ability to return to work.  Based upon this review, and according to her testimony, the employee’s aptitude is average in most areas, below average in only two, motor coordination and color discrimination, and above average in eye hand split.  
Ms. Cortis testified that she is confident that with the employee’s abilities and aptitudes based upon his past work history, she could develop a plan and that the employee could be retrained barring his noncooperation with the process.

Ms. Cortis conducted labor market research and determined that jobs are available in the State of Alaska that are within the employee’s physical and intellectual abilities.  Ms. Cortis contacted employers to ensure that the physical demands of the positions would not exceed the employee’s physical capacities and that the jobs were available in the Alaska labor market.  The jobs that Ms. Cortis identified include cashier, parking lot cashier, host, and information clerk.
  
Ms. Cortis testified that of these four occupations, she identified that at the time of her report, 42 existed in the State of Alaska, and that positions were available in Kenai.  She testified that her research is merely a representative sampling of the positions available; and that a viable labor market for these positions exitst in Alaska.

Ms. Cortis testified that had the employee cooperated with vocational testing, an interest inventory would have been conducted.  Through that interest inventory, a plan would have been developed to retrain the employee in a position that was of interest to him.  

The Board questioned Ms. Cortis about whether the identified positions would meet the remunerative wage.  Ms. Cortis was aware of the Board’s July 24, 2003 determination that was ultimately affirmed by the AWCAC.  Based upon the Board’s establishment of the employee’s compensation rate of $169.00 per week, Ms. Cortis determined the employee’s remunerative wage was $10.50 per hour.  Ms. Cortis testified that of all the positions for which she conducted a labor market study, the hourly wage ranged between $8.00 and $12.00.  Specifically, she testified that a cashier was between $8.00 and $10.00; an information clerk was between $8.00 and $11.00; a parking lot cashier was between $8.00 and $10.00; and a host was between $8.00 and $12.00 per hour.  She testified that the range did not depend upon experience, but rather, it depended upon the employer.  Ms. Cortis testified that if the employee went through the retraining process, he could be retrained to perform a job that provided a remunerative wage.  In 

fact, she testified that the employee can be retrained to perform positions with greater earning capacity than those listed in the report.

Ms. Cortis testified that she does not believe the employee is PTD.  She testified that the employee can be retrained and can return to work.

The employer argued that because the employee is seeking PTD benefits under AS 23.30.180, he is required to prove an inability to work due to his work injury citing J.B. Warrack Co. v. Roan.
  The employer asserts the employee has not come forth with medical or vocational rehabilitation evidence that he is unable to work or unable to be retrained.  The employer maintains that due to the lack of evidence, the presumption cannot even attach. and that by a preponderance of the evidence in the record before the Board, the employee is not PTD.

The employer contends that even if the presumption of compensability were to attach, the employer is able to rebut the presumption with overwhelming medical and vocational rehabilitation evidence.  The employer maintains the medical evidence, which supports that the employee should be retrained to lighter work than an ironworker, and the vocational rehabilitation evidence, which confirms that jobs are available in the Alaska labor market for which the employee can be retrained and that offer a remunerative wage, provide substantial evidence to rebut the presumption.

The employer notes that based upon the employee’s failure to cooperate, his physical capacities have never been evaluated; that based upon the employee’s difficulty in dealing with physicians, several have “fired” the employee; therefore, there is less medical evidence than the Board would expect in a PTD case.  The employer acknowledged that medical benefits have not been controverted in the employee’s case.  As such, the employer confirmed the employee is entitled to see his treating physician.  Despite this entitlement, the employer asserts the employee is not treating, nor attempting to obtain the necessary medical evidence to attach the presumption of compensability for PTD benefits.  

The employer argues the medical evidence clearly indicates the employee can and should retrain to lighter duty work; and, further, that the vocational rehabilitation record provides substantial evidence that jobs are available for the employee for sedentary to light work; and that a viable labor market exists for the positions.  The employer maintains that under AS 23.30.180(a), it has clearly shown that regularly and continuously available light and sedentary work exists in the Alaska labor market.

The employer asserts it is well established that injured employees have a duty to minimize damages, return to work, and do whatever they can to mitigate their damages under the Alaska Supreme Court’s ruling in Phillips Petroleum Co. v. Alaska Industrial Board.
  The employer maintains that in the instant matter, the employee has unreasonably refused to cooperate with the reemployment process and this, in and of itself, should bar the employee’s entitlement to PTD benefits.  The employer bolsters its arguments by asserting the employee has sabotaged all efforts to develop a vocational rehabilitation plan.  The employer contends that under Scott v. Kake Tribal Logging & Timber Corp.,
 in order to establish a compensable claim for PTD benefits, the employee must have attempted and made an effort to return to work, to include cooperation in the reemployment process.  The employer asserts that in the employee’s case, there exists no evidence of attempts or efforts made by the employee to mitigate damages or return to work.

Finally, the employer argues that it is against public policy to find the employee is entitled to PTD benefits.  The employer asserts that to reward the employee’s documented bad behavior and refusal to participate in the reemployment process will open the door permitting anyone who wishes to be found PTD to simply behave poorly and refuse to cooperate with the reemployment process.  The employer maintains this is not the result the Act intends. 
FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
PERMANENT TOTAL DISABILITY BENEFITS

The Alaska Workers' Compensation Act at AS 23.30.180 provides, in part:  

PERMANENT TOTAL DISABILITY. In case of total disability adjudged to be permanent 80 per cent of the injured employee's spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the total disability. . . .  [P]ermanent total disability is determined in accordance with the facts.  

In Lau v. Caterair International #616,
 the Board has addressed the permanence of a disability from both a physical and vocational aspect.  In Lau, there was conflicting evidence about the employee's potential for improving her physical capacities through non-invasive medical treatment, specifically, physical therapy.  The evidence presented by the employer showed Lau had no interest in performing physical therapy, even though three physicians believed she would greatly benefit from such a program.  The employer argued Lau's condition was not permanent because several doctors indicated she would improve if she chose to undergo proper treatment.  The Board stated:  

We do not find Employer's argument convincing.  A finding of permanence does not require unequivocal concurrence on the part of physicians.  As the court stated in Alaska Intern. Constructors v. Kinter, 755 P.2d 1103, 1105 (Alaska 1988):

The fact that the medical experts offered some cautious comments that [Employee] might someday be able to work in a non-demanding job does not preclude the Board's finding.  In order for a claimant to be permanently totally disabled, he need not establish that there is no chance of him ever doing anything again. 

Moreover, the issue is not the employee's physical condition per se but her ability to compete in the labor market. The concept of disability compensation rests on the premise that the primary consideration is not medical impairment as such, but rather loss of earning capacity related to that impairment. Vetter v. Alaska Workmen's Compensation Board, 524 P.2d 264, 266 (Alaska 1974).  We find no evidence any possible improvement in her physical condition will result in better prospects for employment.
 

The term "oddlot" has also been used by the Alaska Supreme Court to explain an injured worker's PTD status.  In Hewing v. Peter Keiwit & Sons,
 the court stated, by citation to Justice William Cardozo's opinion in Jordan v. Decorative Co. (cite omitted) that:  "He is the 'odd lot' man, the 

'nondescript in the labor market.'  Work if he gets it, is likely to be casual and intermittent. . . . Rebuff, if suffered, might reasonably be ascribed to the narrow opportunities that await the sick and halt.” (Footnote and citations omitted).  Additionally, the court advised, when making a determination of PTD the other factors to be considered "include not only the extent of the injury, but also age, education, employment available in the area for persons with the capabilities in question, and intentions as to employment in the future."
  

In Lake v. Chugach Electric,
 the Board analyzed the "odd-lot" doctrine and the "other factors" articulated by the Hewing Court in relation to an injured employee who lacked educational (although not intellectual) capacities to compete for readily available positions, given his physical limitations.  Because Lake suffered from intractable pain, treatment for which the employer had controverted, he was unable to meaningfully engage in the vocational reemployment process.  The Board stated:

[W]hen Employee's limited vocational skills are combined with the restriction he not use his dominant arm/hand and the limitations imposed by his untreated debilitating pain, we find Employee lacks the overall capabilities, at this time, to competitively reenter the labor market for the positions identified by Employer as being continuously and readily available.  We conclude Employee is "oddlot," as that term is explained in Hewing, by citation to Justice Cardozo's opinion in Jordan v. Decorative Co. (citation omitted). . . .  Based on our conclusion Employee is odd lot, we conclude Employee is permanently and totally disabled, at this time.

In Sulkosky v. Morrison-Knudsen,
 the Alaska Supreme Court synthesized its earlier decisions by pronouncing that an injured worker is permanently and totally disabled if there is not "regularly and continuously available work in the area suited to his capabilities."  

Applying the concept articulated in Sulkosky, the Board has found an injured worker of very limited intellectual capacity may be permanently and totally disabled because of his physical injuries in Fleming v. Municipality of Anchorage.
  The rehabilitation specialist assigned to Fleming's claim concluded she was unable to prepare a reemployment plan for an identifiable job Fleming could 

perform, or even be trained to perform, because of his permanent physical, mental, verbal, and reading abilities.  The reemployment file was closed.  In making its determination of PTD status, the Board found the employee was injured in the course and scope of his work with the employer, and was physically limited to light and sedentary work.  Further, based upon the testimony of the rehabilitation specialist and the employee’s wife, the Board found the employee was functionally illiterate.  The Board found the employee possessed only very basic verbal and analytic abilities, and was an unskilled worker who made his way in life based on a diligent work ethic and back-breaking manual labor.  The Board in this case relied upon the medical record, the documentary record of the rehabilitation experts and the testimony of the rehabilitation experts and found the preponderance of the evidence shows there is no regular and continuous work available which is suited to the employee's capabilities in the American labor market.
  Finally, considering the employee's age, physical limitations, limited intellectual and functional capacities, education, work experience, and lack of transferable skills, the Board found no suitable gainful employment was steadily or continuously available for the employee in the labor market.  The Board concluded the employee was permanently and totally disabled and, therefore, entitled to PTD benefits under 
AS 23.30.180.

The Alaska Supreme Court recently analyzed an injured worker’s entitlement to PTD benefits in Leigh v. Seekins Ford.
  In Leigh, the Board found that Leigh had triggered the presumption of compensability based upon presentation of evidence that he had restricted motion in his back, suffered from depression, and could not return to work due to the effects of narcotic pain medications. Numerous friends, family members, and co-workers testified about Leigh's pain and inability to work.  The Board then found that the employer rebutted the presumption by producing evidence that Leigh had the physical and mental abilities to perform 'regularly and continuously available' work that was available in the area.  The Board concluded that Leigh failed to prove his PTD status by a preponderance of the evidence and denied the employee’s claim for PTD benefits.  The Alaska Superior Court affirmed.  Focusing on the medical evidence that persuaded the Board that Leigh had the physical and mental capacity to work, the Superior Court held that Seekins Ford presented sufficient evidence to rebut the presumption of 

compensability.  The Superior Court upheld the Board's determination that Leigh did not prove his claim by a preponderance of the evidence and held that Seekins Ford's evidence of a "regular, stable market" for jobs suiting Leigh's abilities was sufficient.  Upon appeal, Leigh asserted that he established "alternative" presumptions of ‘odd-lot’ status by demonstrating he suffered from "continuous, severe and debilitating pain"
 and that any search for employment would be futile.
HYPERLINK "http://weblinks.westlaw.com/Search/default.wl?RP=%2FWelcome%2FFrameless%2FSearch%2Ewl&n=2&bhcp=1&CFID=0&db=AK%2DCS%2DWEB&method=TNC&query=TI%28%28%22Leigh%22%29%29&RLT=CLID%5FQRYRLT352171411&RLTDB=CLID%5FDB342171411&search=Search&SP=AKCS%2D1000&spolt=Return+to+the+Alaska+Case+Law+Service&sposu=http%3A%2F%2Fgovernment%2Ewestlaw%2Ecom%2Fakcases&spou=http%3A%2F%2Fgovernment%2Ewestlaw%2Ecom%2Fakcases&ssl=n&strRecreate=no&submit=Search&sv=Split&tempinfo=case&title1=Leigh&RS=WEBL7.11&VR=2.0&SPa=AKCS-1000" \l "FN;F01212"  Leigh argued that Seekins Ford did not rebut these presumptions thereby entitling him to PTD status.

The Alaska Supreme Court found the parties in agreement that in the employee’s case, the presumption of compensability attached.  Therefore, the Supreme Court turned to what it identified as the real crux of Leigh's appeal, that even if evidence of Leigh’s chronic pain and the effects of his pain medication did not create a presumption of compensability, evidence of Leigh's chronic pain and of the effects of pain medication remained relevant to determining by a preponderance of the evidence whether he was permanently and totally disabled.  The Supreme Court found that Leigh argued before the Board, and offered evidence to support those arguments, that his chronic pain and the resulting pain medication prevented him from obtaining employment.  The Supreme Court held that the Board must make findings on all contested issues,
 and directed that when deciding whether an issue is contested, we must examine the record to determine if there are sufficient indicia of factual development on the point in contention; there must be “more than a bald assertion of a theory of recovery for which the record contains no evidentiary basis of support.”
  The Supreme Court instructed that when a claimant introduces evidence that chronic pain prevents him from working, the Board must make findings that address whether that pain, either by itself or in combination with other circumstances, including the effect of pain medication, renders the claimant permanently and totally disabled.

The Supreme Court found Leigh's claim that chronic pain and the effects of narcotic pain medication prevented him from obtaining employment was an important part of his claim for PTD benefits and, further, that the Board touched on evidence of chronic pain and narcotic pain medication in a relatively summary fashion, but did not squarely address Leigh's contention that, in light of physical limitations, his chronic pain and the required pain medication rendered him incapable of regular employment or retraining.  The Supreme Court remanded the matter and directed the Board to resolve Leigh's contentions about the effect of his ongoing pain and his pain medication on his employability.  Application of the Supreme Court’s guidance in Leigh to the instant matter, shall require that we resolve the employee’s contentions about the effect of his inability to read and write on his employability, and whether it renders him permanently and totally disabled.

Further, in analyzing an employee’s status as permanently totally disabled, it is well settled in Alaska that, “The law contemplates that the injured workman will do everything humanly possible to restore himself to his normal strength so as to minimize his damages.”
  In Scott v. Kake Tribal Logging & Timber Corp.,
 the Board found the employee had not demonstrated he had done everything humanly possible to minimize his damages; that in the absence of an attempt on the part of the employee to work and increase his capacities for and tolerance of work, the Board did not have sufficient evidence to determine the dependability and quality of the work the employee was able to perform, or to find that the employee was so disabled that he was unable to be regularly and continuously employed, despite the employee’s communication difficulties.

In the instant matter, the employee claims entitlement to PTD compensation.  His theory of entitlement appears to be based upon his limited proficiency in reading and writing;
 and his belief that based upon his reading and writing difficulties, computer training would be useless to him, thereby entitling him to PTD benefits.

When making a determination under AS 23.30.180, in accordance with the authorities cited above, we must apply the presumption of compensability under AS 23.30.120(a).  The Act at 
AS 23.30.120(a) provides, in part:  "In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter. . . ."  The Alaska Supreme Court held in Meek v. Unocal Corp., "the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute."
  The Court specifically held that the presumption applies to claims for PTD benefits.
  


Therefore, in our analysis, we must first apply the statutory presumption of compensability, which involves a three-step analysis.
  The presumption attaches if the employee makes a minimal showing of a preliminary link between the claimed disability benefit and employment.
  The evidence necessary to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending on the type of claim.  "[I]n claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection."
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
  

In applying the presumption of compensability to a claim for PTD benefits, the claimant must produce some evidence of permanent and total disability or "odd-lot" status.  The Board considers if, because of the industrial injury, the employee permanently lacks the physical, mental, and/or vocational capabilities necessary to work in jobs which are regularly and continuously available.  

In the instant matter, no physician has opined that the employee is permanently and totally disabled.  We find there is but one opinion, that of rehabilitation specialist Jeffrey Allen, which indicates the employee is unable to return to work or engage in a reemployment plan.  However, we find that 
Mr. Allen’s opinion is based upon his belief that the employee was unable to participate in the vocational rehabilitation process because of severe mental illness.  We find that based upon the 

employee’s refusal to participate in a mental health evaluation, there is no basis to make a determination the employee is mentally ill.  Further, when considering the entire record in this matter, there exists no evidence that the employee is mentally ill.  We find that Mr. Allen, as a rehabilitation specialist, is not qualified to provide an opinion regarding the employee’s mental health and that his opinion is not sufficient to establish the preliminary link to attach the presumption of compensability.  However, we shall consider in the alternative, the employee’s assertions that he cannot successfully be retrained because he has a limited ability to read and write, and find this is minimally sufficient to establish a preliminary link to attach the presumption of compensability.
    

Once the preliminary link is established, at the second stage of the analysis, it is the employer's burden to overcome the presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence that the injury was not work related.
  Because the presumption shifts only the burden of production to the employer, and not the burden of proof, the Board examines the employer’s evidence in isolation.
  We review the employer’s evidence in isolation.  We find based upon the opinions of 
Dr. Davidhizer and Dr. Peterson that the employee has the physical ability to return to the workforce in a sedentary or light duty capacity persuasive.  We find that both Dr. Davidhizer and Dr. Peterson recommended that the employee engage in retraining.  While Dr. Johnston, the EME, declined to offer an opinion regarding the employee’s ability to return to work, we find this was before the employee was treated by Dr. Peterson and the referral to Dr. Peterson was to accomplish that testing recommended by Dr. Johnston.  We find the testimony of Ms. Cortis established that there exists continuous and suitable work classified as sedentary or light duty capacity.  We find the employee’s inability to work is due to his unwillingness to participate in the reemployment process,
 to include assessment of his reading and writing ability, a psychological assessment or an interest survey, rather than unavailability of jobs within his limited capabilities.
  We find the employer has presented substantial evidence that the employee is not entitled to PTD benefits.

Having rebutted the presumption, the employee must now prove his PTD claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  At this step, the Board weighs the evidence presented.  We find that no physician has concluded the employee is PTD.  We give more weight to the medical professionals regarding the employee’s physical capabilities than the employee’s lay statements.
  We find that while every job identified by Ms. Cortis may not be a good fit for the employee, there are positions regularly and continuously available to the employee should he choose to return to the work force.  We find that had the employee cooperated with and participated in the reemployment process, one of the rehabilitation specialists assigned to his case could have conducted an interest survey and identified a position suited to the employee.  We find Ms. Cortis has extensive experience in vocational rehabilitation and based upon her testimony that she has developed reemployment plans that have successfully retrained injured workers with similar and even more extensive injuries than the employee and who, additionally, were unable to read or write.  We find that remedial courses are available and have been successfully utilized as part of reemployment plans to teach injured workers to read and write so that they could access and complete the remainder of their plan.  We find, based upon the testimony of Ms. Cortis, that these individuals have been successfully retrained and returned to work.  The Board finds Ms. Cortis credible and we apply great weight to her opinion that the employee’s inability to read and write can be remediated and, therefore, is not a barrier to his employability.  Further, we find, had the employee participated in an assessment of his reading and writing skills, appropriate remedial courses would have been included in the employee’s reemployment plan.  Based upon the opinions of Drs. Davidhizer and Peterson, and rehabilitation specialist Ms. Cortis, we find the employer has established regular and continuous work suited to the employee’s light to sedentary capabilities.  

At AS 23.30.001, the intent of the Alaska Legislature is articulated; the Act is to “..be interpreted so as to ensure the quick, efficient, fair and predictable delivery of indemnity and medical benefits to injured workers at a reasonable cost to the employer.”  We find this has been impossible in the instant matter due to the employee’s refusal to cooperate with the reemployment process, and his determination to see things only his way, despite consistent contradictory medical advice from all physicians who treated and evaluated him.  We find the employee is disagreeable, erratic and threatening and, due to his disposition, has forced service providers, both medical and vocational, to 

cease provision of services to him.  We find rehabilitation specialist Ms. White’s report that the employee’s articulated goal is to get by and receive Workers’ Compensation benefits for the rest of his life credible.
  Further, based upon the message the employee left for the Designated Chair upon receipt of the Board’s September 21, 2007 letter, it is without question that the employee had a very clear understanding of the Board’s request and simply exhibited an additional refusal to cooperate with the process and procedure before the Board.  The Board finds there have been no assessments of the employee’s reading and writing abilities.  We find that beyond the employee’s assertions of his inability to read and write the record is devoid of evidence of any deficiencies.  Based upon the employee’s refusal to participate in the hearing on his claim for PTD benefits despite the Board’s attempt to elicit further evidence from him regarding his inability to retrain and work, we can only make our determination based upon the record before us.  We find the employee’s assertions that he cannot read or write are countered by his voice mail response to the Chair’s letter of September 21, 2007, in which he clearly communicated an understanding of what the Board requested of him.  The Board does not find the employee’s assertions that he cannot read to be credible.

The Board finds the employee has shown no cooperative effort to complete the diagnostic and assessment recommendations of the numerous rehabilitation specialists assigned to his case.  We find the recommended assessments were necessary to allow the rehabilitation process to proceed.  Based upon the testimony of Ms. Cortis, we find had the employee cooperatively participated in the reemployment process, which commenced in April of 2002, it is probable that the employee would currently be gainfully employed.  The Board finds that the employee’s non-cooperation in the reemployment process, ultimately lead to termination of the employee’s entitlement to benefits under AS 23.30.041.  

The Alaska Supreme Court directed the Board, in Leigh, that when a claimant introduces evidence that a condition prevents him from working, the Board must make findings that address whether that condition, either by itself or in combination with other circumstances, renders the claimant permanently and totally disabled.  Moreover, the Supreme Court has advised that when making a 

determination of PTD, additional factors to be considered include not only the extent of the employee’s injury, but also his age, education, employment available in the area for persons with the capabilities in question, in addition to the employee’s intentions with regard to employment in the future.
  In the instant matter, the employee asserts that he cannot be retrained due to his inability to read and write proficiently.  In considering the employee's age, physical limitations, and limited intellectual and functional capacities, we find, based upon the testimony of Loretta Cortis, that there exists suitable gainful employment which is steadily or continuously available for the employee in the labor market.  Further, we find there exists no conclusive evidence that the employee is unable to read or write; however, if such proof existed, we find based upon the testimony of Ms. Cortis, remedial courses will rectify the deficiency in the employee’s ability to read and write.
  We find that the remedial courses will permit the employee to access an educational process through reading and writing, thereby permitting the employee to be retrained to perform work that is regularly and continuously available in the area the employee lives and that is classified as sedentary or light duty and within the employee’s capabilities.  Therefore, on the record before us, we find the employee is neither permanently nor totally disabled.  We conclude the employee is not entitled to PTD benefits.  We shall deny and dismiss the employee’s claim for PTD benefits.
ORDER

The employee’s claim for permanent total disability benefits under AS 23.30.180 is denied and dismissed.  

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on November 21, 2007.
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MODIFICATION
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� 4/5/02 Angela Rudd letter to RBA.


� 5/10/02 Letter from Fannie Stoll, Workers’ Compensation Technician.
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� 4/30/03 Letter from Mr. Witbeck.
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� 8/19/03 Closure Report, Alizon White.


� Id.  See also, Witbeck v. Superstructures, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 05-0348 (December 28, 2005), at 18.
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� AS 23.30.122.


� Witbeck v. Superstructures, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 05-0348 (December 28, 2006).


� Witbeck v. Superstructures, Inc., AWCAC Appeal No. 06-001, AWCAC Decision No. 014 (July 13, 2006).
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� 418 P.2d 986, 988 (Alaska 1966).  "Total" was defined in Roan.   The Supreme Court stated:  “For workers’ compensation purposes total disability does not necessarily mean a state of abject helplessness.  It means the inability because of injuries to perform services other than those which are so limited in quality, dependability or quantity that a reasonably stable market for them does not exist.” (Footnote omitted). 
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� The Board notes the employee was able to read and comprehend our correspondence of September 21, 2007, permitting him to file a post hearing brief and direct the Board to relevant medical and rehabilitation evidence in the record, to such an extent that he felt comfortable contacting Designated Chair Wright to inform her that he would not be filing anything with the Board.
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� Based upon the record in this matter, the Board finds that the true extent of the employee’s reading and writing abilities has not been assessed solely due to the employee’s refusal to participate in assessments that were arranged pursuant to the reemployment process.
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